## RECEIVED

# In The Supreme Court of Mischark of Supreme Court

DEMOCRATIC PARTY OF WISCONSIN AND CORY LIEBMANN, PETITIONERS-RESPONDENTS,

v.

WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND KEVIN POTTER, RESPONDENTS-APPELLANTS-PETITIONERS.

> On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable Richard G. Niess, Presiding, Case No. 14CV2937

#### CORRECTED OPENING BRIEF OF THE WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE AND KEVIN POTTER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

MISHA TSEYTLIN Solicitor General State Bar #1102199

LUKE N. BERG Deputy Solicitor General

Wisconsin Department of Justice 17 West Main Street P.O. Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 tseytlinm@doj.state.wi.us (608) 267-9323

ISSUES PRESENTED
ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STANDARD OF REVIEW
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
I. The Public Interest Balance Favors Keeping Both The 2009 Video And The 2013 Video Confidential
A. The Public's Interest In Thwarting Criminals, Including Sex Predators, Outweighs The Interest In Releasing These Particular Videos
1. Training Materials That Reveal Law Enforcement Techniques Will Usually Overcome The Open Records Law's Presumption Of Disclosure
<ol> <li>Revealing The Law Enforcement Techniques In The 2009 and 2013 Videos Would Undermine The "Strong Public Interest In Investigating And Prosecuting Criminal Activity"</li></ol>
B. The Public's Interest In Protecting the Victims Of Sex Crimes Outweighs The Interest In Releasing These Particular Videos
II. The 2013 Video Is Exempt From Disclosure As An Oral Account Of A District Attorney's Case File Under Foust's Common Law Exemption
CONCLUSION

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases
Abdeljabbar v. Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco & Firearms, 74 F. Supp. 3d 158 (D.D.C. 2014)
Blackwell v. FBI, 646 F.3d 37 (D.C. Cir. 2011) passim
<i>Espino v. DOJ</i> , 869 F. Supp. 2d 25 (D.D.C. 2012)
Hale v. DOJ, 973 F.2d 894 (10th Cir. 1992)21
Hempel v. City of Baraboo, 2005 WI 120, 204 Wi 2011C2, CO2 N W 21 551
284 Wis. 2d 162, 699 N.W.2d 551 6, 7, 10, 26
Kortlander v. Bureau of Land Mgmt., 816 F. Supp. 2d 1001 (D. Mont. 2011)
Linzmeyer v. Forcey, 2002 WI 84, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811 passim
Mayer Brown LLP v. IRS, 562 F.3d 1190 (D.C. Cir. 2009) 13, 14, 17, 19
McGehee v. DOJ,
800 F. Supp. 2d 220 (D.D.C. 2011)
McQueen v. United States, 264 F. Supp. 2d 502 (S.D. Tex. 2003)
Miller v. DOJ, 562 F. Supp. 2d 82 (D.D.C. 2008)
Milner v. Dep't of the Navy, 562 U.S. 562 (2011)
Nat'l Archives & Records Admin. v. Favish, 541 U.S. 157 (2004)
Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979)7
Nichols v. Bennett, 199 Wis. 2d 268, 544 N.W.2d 428 (1996) 11, 28
Piper v. DOJ, 294 F. Supp. 2d 16 (D.D.C. 2003)

Prison Legal News v. Exec. Office for U.S. Att'ys, 628 F.3d 1243 (10th Cir. 2011)24	
<ul> <li>Pub. Emp. for Envtl. Responsibility v. U.S. Section, Int'l Boundary &amp; Water Comm'n, U.SMexico, 740 F.3d 195 (D.C. Cir. 2014)</li></ul>	
Rosenberg v. U.S. Dep't of Immigration & Customs Enf't, 959 F. Supp. 2d 61 (D.D.C. 2013)	
Schilling v. State Crime Victims Rights Bd., 2005 WI 17, 278 Wis. 2d 216, 692 N.W.2d 62323, 26	
State ex rel. Richards v. Foust, 165 Wis. 2d 429, 477 N.W.2d 608 (1991) passim	
Woznicki v. Erickson 202 Wis. 2d 178, 549 N.W.2d 699 (1996)	
Statutes	
5 U.S.C. § 552 10, 12, 13	
Wis. Stat. § 19.32	
Wis. Stat. § 19.35	
Wis. Stat. § 19.36	
Wis. Stat. § 949.001	
Wis. Stat. §§ 19.31–19.395	
Wis. Stat. ch. 949	
Wis. Stat. ch. 950	
Constitutional Provisions	
Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m	

#### **INTRODUCTION**

There is no stronger proponent of Wisconsin's Open Records Law than the Wisconsin Department of Justice. In June 2015, the Department established the Office of Open Government, which helps facilitate timely and accurate access to public records. Among other services, the Office provides useful tools, templates, and information to interested citizens, helping to ensure that Wisconsin is a national leader in open government. *See Office of Open Government, Wisconsin Department of Justice,* https://www.doj.state.wi.us/office-open-government/officeopen-government (last visited Feb. 22, 2016).

At the same time, the Department recognizes that there are certain, rare situations where disclosure of a record would cause grave harm to the public interest, even after taking into account the Open Records Law's extremely laudable purposes. The present case is such an instance.

This case involves the requested release of two video-recorded trainings given to a limited audience of prosecutors, explaining how to investigate, catch, and prosecute sexual predators. The Department opposes release of these videos because it concluded—after careful deliberation—that these videos, if made public, would both help sexual predators evade the law and cause great harm to the victims.

Beyond this immediate damage to the public interest that would result from the release of these two videos, the Department is concerned about the long-term implications of such disclosure. Mandating release of these videos would undermine the State's ability to train prosecutors and police officers in the future. As a practical matter, forcing release may well mean that future trainers will provide less useful techniques and that any such trainings may no longer be videotaped. This would deprive prosecutors and police, including those unable to attend such trainings in person, of critical tools for protecting the citizens of Wisconsin.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Can the Department of Justice maintain the confidentiality of two video-recorded trainings given to a limited audience of prosecutors on how to investigate, catch, and prosecute sexual predators?

The circuit court and court of appeals answered, no.

#### **ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION**

By granting the Department of Justice's petition for review, this Court has indicated that the case is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The two videos at issue in this case involve presentations given by then-Waukesha County District Attorney Brad D. Schimel at the Wisconsin State Prosecutors Education and Training conferences. The Department of Justice sponsors these conferences semiannually to allow prosecutors<sup>1</sup> to develop their skills by openly sharing techniques and strategies. Attendance at the conferences is limited and does not include members of the public, criminal defense attorneys, private attorneys, or the media. R. 15. Sessions are sometimes videotaped for prosecutors who are unable to attend, but the recordings are not made publically available. R. 15 ¶ 3.

The first presentation, given in 2009, is an overview of investigations and prosecutions of online child predators and child pornographers, including advice on best practices for catching predators. R. 4, 2009.<sup>2</sup> The presentation contains multiple examples from sensitive cases. E.g., R. 4, 2009 at 8:10-10:30, 12:35-13:40,47:00-41.54:56-56:50, 1:02:32–1:03:30, 1:11:10–54. It discusses what undercover officers can and cannot say when trying to catch sexual predators, and specific strategies for what undercover officers can do to generate evidence for trial. R. 4, 2009 at 4:26-5:02, 13:45-14:05, 20:06-27, 20:30-21:00, 22:36-23:19, 23:35–24:17. The presentation also extensively reviews the types of evidence that are most helpful to proving the elements of various sex crimes. R. 4, 2009 at 5:30-7:12,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The audience during the two presentations also included some law enforcement and crime victim witness personnel. R. 15 ¶¶ 3–10, 12, 13.

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  The videos are on a DVD that the circuit court placed under seal and are labeled according to their dates. R. 3, 4. The video from 2013 is in two parts.

7:45-8:07, 9:29-10:00, 10:44-11:36, 12:30-37, 14:07-14:53, 15:29-37, 19:52-20:02, 54:45-56, 57:43-54, 1:01:24-38. It discusses technology and how to identify who created or accessed particular files. R. 4, 2009 at 7:47-8:03, 43:10-49, 44:07-44:50, 46:00-30, 55:20-56:15, 1:08:30-56. Finally, the presentation surveys certain litigation defenses and how to overcome them. R. 4, 2009 at 14:52-19:45, 25:52-29:00, 42:16-49:12.

The second presentation, given in 2013, is a detailed discussion of a sexual assault case in which a high school student posed as a female online, obtained graphic pictures from his male classmates, and used them to extort sexual acts. R. 4, 2013. This presentation includes intimate details about the offender's manipulation of the victims and the devastating toll these tactics took on the victims and their families. R. 4, 2013 Part 1 at 17:03–21:58, 38:22–46:17, 52:22–Part 2 00:17, Part 2 at 03:00–07:30, 10:24–11:18, 12:20–44, 13:35–14:08. It also describes a particularly traumatic effect on one victim; something the Department of Justice believes has never been publically disclosed. R. 4, 2013 Part 2 at 06:15–07:30.

The 2013 presentation discusses techniques that law enforcement should use to catch and convict sexual predators. It explains how the police first identified the suspect. R. 4, 2013 Part 1 at 15:24–16:06. The presentation gives tips for convincing possible suspects to talk to the police, R. 4, 2013 Part 1 at 23:03–43, 26:08–23, and examines some challenges faced when trying to extract information from technology, R. 4, 2013 Part 1 at 28:45-29:08, 33:21-55, 46:17-46:50.It includes expert observations on what to charge and when, R. 4, 2013 Part 1 at 29:43-31:15, 31:55-32:15, Part 2 at 1:23-2:15, along with factors that influenced plea negotiations, R. 4, 2013 Part 2 at 12:20-13:10.Finally, the presentation discusses some procedures weaknesses in police that might allow defendants or their counsel to get access to prosecution files too quickly. R. 4, 2013 Part 2 at 14:48–16:25.

B. In September of 2014, during the election campaign for Wisconsin Attorney General, the Democratic Party of Wisconsin submitted a request under Wisconsin's Open Records Law, Wis. Stat. §§ 19.31–19.39, seeking recordings of any training presentations given by thencandidate Brad D. Schimel. R. 2:7–8. Only the two videos described above matched the request. R. 2:15. After very carefully weighing the public policies for and against disclosure under Wisconsin's Open Records Law, the Department of Justice declined to produce either video, explaining that it made this decision in order to prevent sexual predators from evading the law and to protect the victims of the sex crimes. R. 2:15–18.

C. On October 21, 2014, the day after receiving the Department of Justice's response, the Democratic Party sought a writ of mandamus in the Dane County Circuit Court that would require release of the two videos. R. 1, 2.

- 5 -

In conducting the public interest balancing test mandated by the Open Records Law, the circuit court dismissed the Department of Justice's concerns about undermining law enforcement's efforts to catch sexual predators because, in the court's judgment, the methods discussed were not "particularly novel." App. 15, 18. The court also discounted the potential harm to victims based on the view that past media attention had already taken its toll. App. 8, 11–13. The circuit court did, however, acknowledge that release would "show[] nothing that can be considered misconduct on the part of any of the presenters." App.  $18.^{3}$  The court ordered the videos to be released, but stayed that order pending appeal, keeping the videos confidential during litigation. App. 1–2, R. 23.

The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court, agreeing with its reasoning. App. 19–25. The court of appeals similarly stayed disclosure pending further review by this Court. App. 26–27.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"The application of the Open Records Law to undisputed facts is a question of law that [this Court] review[s] de novo." *Hempel v. City of Baraboo*, 2005 WI 120, ¶ 21, 284 Wis. 2d 162, 699 N.W.2d 551.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although the circuit court in this particular passage was discussing the 2009 video, the court's description of the 2013 video similarly reveals that the court did not find or suggest that this video contained any misconduct whatsoever. App. 8–13.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Evaluating a request under the Open Records Law begins with determining "whether the open records law applies," which requires "look[ing] at the statutory language of that law, along with its statutory and common law exceptions." *Linzmeyer v. Forcey*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 10, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811. The parties in this case agree that the videos are records, as defined by Wis. Stat. § 19.32(2), and that none of the statutory exemptions apply. *E.g.*, Wis. Stat. §§ 19.35(1)(am)1–3, 19.36(1)–(13).

I. Before releasing any record subject to the Open Records Law, the record's custodian must "determine whether the presumption of openness is overcome by another public policy concern, [by] apply[ing] the balancing test articulated by this court in *Woznicki v. Erickson*, 202 Wis. 2d 178, 549 N.W.2d 699, and *Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier*, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979). That is, [the custodian] must weigh the public policies not in favor of release against the strong public policy that public records should be open for review." *Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 12. This is a "fact-intensive," "case-by-case" analysis in which the custodian has "substantial discretion." *Hempel*, 2005 WI 120, ¶ 62.

A. A showing that disclosure of a record would reveal "techniques and procedures" from past "investigations or prosecutions"—such as a prosecutor or police training—is generally sufficient to overcome the "presumption of

- 7 -

openness." See Linzmeyer, 2002 WI 84, ¶¶ 12, 41. Such records require "special care" due to their "particularly sensitive" nature, *id.* ¶ 26, and face only "a relatively low bar ... to justify withholding" under the analogous federal open records law, *Blackwell v. FBI*, 646 F.3d 37, 42 (D.C. Cir. 2011). Broad release of such records—especially training presentations revealing prosecutor and police techniques—is particularly contrary to the public interest because this would undermine the ability to conduct effective training in the future.

Applying these principles to the two videos at issue in this case, it becomes clear that disclosure would undermine the "strong public interest in investigating and prosecuting criminal activity," *Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 30, by enabling sexual predators to evade the law and by limiting open discussion during law enforcement training.

B. Releasing the videos is also contrary to the public interest in protecting victims. The rights of victims are given special protection in Wisconsin, having been enshrined in the Constitution and multiple laws. See Wis. Const. art. I, § 9m; Wis. Stat. chs. 949, 950. Based upon its deep experience with victims, the Department of Justice concluded that disclosure of reasonably these videos—especially the 2013 video—would undermine this public interest in victims' rights by retraumatizing victims of sexual crimes and discouraging other victims from coming forward.

II. The 2013 video is also exempt from disclosure under the common-law exception for a prosecutor's case file, State rel. *Richards* Foust, recognized in exv. 165 Wis. 2d 429, 477 N.W.2d 608 (1991). This video is a lengthy, oral account of a single prosecution, by the prosecutor himself. The account should be treated as functionally equivalent to a prosecutor's case file for Open Records Law purposes.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. The Public Interest Balance Favors Keeping Both The 2009 Video And The 2013 Video Confidential

There are two critical reasons for keeping the 2009 and 2013 videos confidential under the Open Records Law's public interest balance test. "[H]arm to [the] public interest [from disclosure would] outweigh[] the public interest in opening the records to inspection," *Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 25, because disclosure would (A) undermine the ability of police and prosecutors to catch and prosecute sexual predators, and (B) cause harm to the victims of these predators. When these two interests are considered together, the public interest case against release becomes even more powerful.

- A. The Public's Interest In Thwarting Criminals, Including Sex Predators, Outweighs The Interest In Releasing These Particular Videos
  - 1. Training Materials That Reveal Law Enforcement Techniques Will Usually Overcome The Open Records Law's Presumption Of Disclosure

Law enforcement training materials that discuss strategies and techniques will usually overcome the Open Records Law's laudable presumption of disclosure for three important reasons: (1) their disclosure reveals "techniques and procedures" from past "investigations or prosecutions," Linzmeyer, 2002 WI 84,  $\P$  41, (2) they would normally be under Freedom non-disclosable of Information Act exemption 7(E), 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(E), and (3) keeping training videos such as these confidential will allow law enforcement personnel to freely exchange information without fear of its release ultimately undermining their efforts. Of course, each law enforcement training record must still be analyzed on a "case-by-case basis," Hempel, 2005 WI 120, ¶ 62, but these considerations help to guide that inquiry.

a. Disclosure of law enforcement training materials that reveal "techniques and procedures" from past "investigations or prosecutions" is generally contrary to the public interest. *See Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 41.

In State ex rel. Richards v. Foust, this Court held that a prosecutor's case files are exempt from disclosure under a common law exception to the Open Records Law, even if the files are closed. 165 Wis. 2d 429. This Court based its holding in part on public policy grounds. Id. at 435. For example, this Court found it important to protect district attorneys' "broad prosecutorial discretion," noting that courts only check this discretion when there is an "aura of discrimination." *Id.* at 434. This Court also expressed concern that files might contain "historical data leading up to the prosecution," which should "be protected if continuing cooperation of the populace in criminal investigations is to be expected." Id. at 435. Since Foust, this Court has "reaffirm[ed] that documents integral to the criminal investigation and prosecution process are protected from being open to public inspection." Nichols v. Bennett, 199 Wis. 2d 268, 275 n.4, 544 N.W.2d 428 (1996) (citation omitted); see also Woznicki, 202 Wis. 2d at 194–95.

In *Linzmeyer v. Forcey*, 2002 WI 84, this Court invoked similar concerns under the public policy balancing test, even where the *Foust* common law exception for prosecutor's files did not apply. Law enforcement records, this Court emphasized, can be "particularly sensitive regardless of whether or not the underlying investigations are on-going." *Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 26. They "are generally more likely than most types of public records to have an adverse effect on other public interests if they are released." *Id.* ¶ 30. And there is a "strong public interest in investigating and prosecuting criminal activity." *Id.* Therefore, when considering law enforcement records that are outside of *Foust*'s common law exception, balancing the public policies for and against release requires "special care." *Id.* ¶ 26.

Notably, many of the reasons for releasing the particular records in *Linzmeyer* explain why not disclosing training materials will be appropriate in most cases. Linzmeyer ordered the release of records of a completed police investigation of a school teacher, but cautioned that its result was atypical. Id.  $\P\P$  1, 38. The teacher's reason for nondisclosure—that he would be personally embarrassed—was not relevant public а policy consideration. *Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶¶ 34–36. Further weighing in favor of release, the allegations involved "possible inappropriate interactions" with students. *Id.* ¶ 37. Finally, there was "no threat that techniques and procedures for law enforcement investigations or prosecutions would be revealed if the Report [was] disclosed." Id. ¶ 41. In the case of training videos disclosing law enforcement techniques, however, these reasons will generally—but not always—cut in the other direction.

b. *Linzmeyer* is also instructive because it "[a]ppl[ied]" federal law to reach its conclusion; specifically, Exemption 7 of the federal Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7), which "exempts law enforcement records from public disclosure under [various] circumstances." 2002 WI 84, ¶¶ 32, 33. As *Linzmeyer* explained, Exemption 7 "provide[s] a framework that records custodians can use to determine whether the presumption of openness in law enforcement records is overcome by another public policy." *Id.* ¶ 33.

Of particular relevance here, Exemption 7(E) excludes "records or information compiled for law enforcement purposes"<sup>4</sup> that "would disclose techniques and procedures for law enforcement investigations or prosecutions, or would disclose guidelines for law enforcement investigations or prosecutions if such disclosure could reasonably be expected to risk circumvention of the law." 5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(E). Federal cases interpreting this provision recognize that it sets "a relatively low bar for [an] agency to justify withholding," *Blackwell*, 646 F.3d at 42, "only requir[ing] that the [agency] demonstrate logically how the release of requested information might create risk of the а circumvention of the law." Mayer Brown LLP v. IRS, 562 F.3d 1190, 1194 (D.C. Cir. 2009) (citation omitted). "In short, the exemption looks not just for circumvention of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "[L]aw enforcement purposes" include "more than just investigating and prosecuting individuals *after* a violation of the law," they also include "proactive steps"—like training—"designed to prevent criminal activity and to maintain security." *Pub. Emp. for Envtl. Responsibility v. U.S. Section, Int'l Boundary & Water Comm'n, U.S.*-*Mexico,* 740 F.3d 195, 203 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (quoting *Milner v. Dep't of the Navy,* 562 U.S. 562, 582 (2011) (Alito, J., concurring)).

law, but for a risk of circumvention; not just for an actual or certain risk of circumvention, but for an expected risk; not just for an undeniably or universally expected risk, but for a reasonably expected risk; and not just for certitude of a reasonably expected risk, but for the chance of a reasonably expected risk." *Id.* at 1193.

While the Department of Justice does not believe that Exemption 7(E) caselaw must be applied directly to the Open Records Law in all of its details, the principle that this exemption creates "a relatively low bar for [an] agency to justify withholding," *Blackwell*, 646 F.3d at 42, "provide[s] a framework that records custodians can use to determine whether the presumption of openness in law enforcement records is overcome by another public policy," *Linzmeyer*, 2002 WI 84, ¶ 33.

c. General public policy also strongly favors allowing law enforcement to freely exchange techniques and tips without fear that criminals will obtain that information. Prosecutors and police officers should be permitted to be open and candid with each other, so they can be more effective in fighting crime. If the requirements for confidentiality are set too high, however, future teaching prosecutors and police officers will face a difficult choice. The more information they include in their presentations, the more likely it will be held exempt from disclosure—but it will also be more likely to cause damage to their efforts if released. Rather than trying to predict where courts will draw the line, future presenters may simply withhold the best strategies, or keep the discussion abstract and avoid important details. Alternatively or in addition, trainers may ask the Department of Justice and other state bodies not to record their presentations, eliminating a useful tool for prosecutors and police who are unable to attend the relevant presentations or conferences.

In short, the public is best served when law enforcement can openly share what does and does not work in a limited training setting. And the need for an open and confidential space for discussion is all the more important when law enforcement is being trained on how to protect Wisconsin's children from sexual predators.

> 2. Revealing The Law Enforcement Techniques In The 2009 and 2013 Videos Would Undermine The "Strong Public Interest In Investigating And Prosecuting Criminal Activity"

Applying the above-described principles to the two videos at issue in this case demonstrates that the videos' disclosure would be contrary to the public interest.

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