No. 14AP2536

# **RECEIVED** 03-14-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

OF WISCONSIN

In the Supreme Court of Wisconsin OF WISCONSIN

## DEMOCRATIC PARTY OF WISCONSIN and CORY LIEBMANN,

Petitioners-Respondents,

v.

## WISCONSIN DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE and KEVIN POTTER,

Respondents-Appellants-Petitioners,

On Appeal from the Dane County Circuit Court, The Honorable Richard G. Niess, Presiding, Case No. 14CV2937

#### **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONERS-RESPONDENTS**

MICHAEL R. BAUER State Bar No: 1003627

BAUER LAW LLC P.O. BOX 5241 Madison, WI 53705 bauermr@charter.net (608) 658-6422

###

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. DOJ MUST NOT BE ALLOWED TO PUT ITS THUMB ON THE SCALE WHEN PERFORMING THE BALANCING TEST

After reviewing evidence used by the Government to deny access to the videotapes, the trial court found that "the public interest in access to these records outweighs the public's interest in having these records withheld." App. 48:2-23. See, e.g. State ex rel. Journal Co. v. County Court for Racine County, 43 Wis. 2d 297, 305, 168 N.W.2d 836 (1969). DOJ failed to present evidence to create an exceptional case not governed by the strong presumption of openness. Hempel v. City of Baraboo, 284 Wis. 2d 162, 699 N.W.2d 551 (2005). An "exceptional case" exists when the circumstances are such that the public policy interests favoring nondisclosure outweigh the public policy interests favoring disclosure, notwithstanding the strong presumption favoring disclosure. Hempel, 284 Wis. 2d at 162. It is the burden of the party seeking nondisclosure to show that "public interests favoring secrecy outweigh those favoring disclosure." C.L. v. Edson, 140 Wis. 2d 168, 182, 409 N.W.2d 417 (Ct. App. 1987). It is important to remember that the identity of the requester and the purpose of the request are not part of the balancing test. See Kraemer Bros., Inc. v.

Dane County, 229 Wis. 2d 86, 102, 599 N.W.2d 75 (Ct. App. 1999). In fact, the trial court found that "[t]here is not a shred of evidence in this record that releasing the 2009 video is going to impact the ability to prosecute and investigate and catch predators of those who are involved in the sensitive crimes against children." (Emphasis added). App. 56:22-25; 57:1.

The trial court concluded that the DOJ did not meet its burden of showing that this is an exceptional case. App. 48:13-23. The court of appeals agreed. App. 72.

### A. DOJ CANNOT BE ALLOWED TO FEDERALIZE WISCONSIN'S PUBLIC RECORDS LAW

The public record's balancing test is fact intensive. See Kroeplin v. Wisconsin DNR, 297 Wis. 2d 254, 725 N.W.2d 286 (2006) (the balancing test must be done on a "case-by-case" inquiry). After providing deference to the trial court's fact finding, its application of this balancing test is subject to de novo review by this Court. John K. MacIver Inst. for Pub. Policy, Inc. v. Erpenbach, 354 Wis. 2d 61, 848 N.W.2d 862 (Ct. App 2014). The party resisting the disclosure of public documents bears the burden of showing that the documents fall within an exception to the general rule of disclosure. See Newspapers, Inc. v. Breier, 89 Wis. 2d 417, 427, 279 N.W.2d 179 (1979). Any exception to the general presumption of complete disclosure must be narrowly construed: "[S]tatutory exceptions

'should be recognized for what they are, instances in derogation of the general legislative intent, and should, therefore, be narrowly construed." Hathaway, 116 Wis. 2d at 397, 342 N.W.2d 682. (quoting Fox, 149 Wis. 2d at 411, 438 N.W.2d 589); It is "contrary to general well-established principles of freedom-of-information statutes to hold that, by implication only, any type of record can be held from public inspection." Hathaway, 116 Wis. 2d at 397, 342 N.W.2d 682 (emphasis added). The basis for not according any weight to the record custodian's balancing decision is clear: "Records requested may well relate to the custodian himself or herself... In short, a custodian personally may view a records request as being favorable or unfavorable to his or her own interests or those of someone close to him or her. The courts generally provide a more disinterested forum." Id., Ftn. 4. This is especially true when the subject of the records request is the same public official who is performing the balancing test.

The DOJ relies upon *Linzmeyer v. Forcey*, 254 Wis. 2d 306, 646 N.W.2d 811 (2002), to support its claim that the case "emphasizes the protection of prosecutors and law enforcement investigations and strategies." *Linzmeyer* does not support the Government's argument. *Linzmeyer* dealt with a police investigation of a public school teacher into whether he had engaged in inappropriate conduct with a number of his female students. *Id.* The case reiterates the following general principles:

As we have consistently recognized, the clearly stated, general presumption of our law is that all public records shall be open to the public...this presumption reflects the basic principle that the people must be informed about the workings of their government and that openness in government is essential to maintain the strength of our democratic society...Here [as is true in the present appeal] the parties do not dispute the fact that the Report is a public record as defined by s. 19.32(2). So as with other public records, we begin with the strong presumption favoring release of the Report.

#### *Id.*, ¶ 15.

Linzmeyer was primarily concerned with whether disclosure would jeopardize an ongoing police investigation. No such concern is relevant to the facts before this Court because it involves a several years-old case in which the defendant had been convicted and sentenced. Linzmeyer summarized the balancing test necessary to overcome the presumption of openness. The Court stated that the "fundamental question we must ask is whether there is harm to a public interest that outweighs the public interest in inspection of the Report. [W]e apply a balancing test on a case-by-case basis..." Id.

In *Linzmeyer*, the Court considered a variety of factors in regard to the balancing test, noting:

[1]...the process of police investigation is one where public oversight is important...[it]is an official responsibility of an executive government agency, and much like the ability to arrest, it represents a significant use of government personnel, time and resources. [2] The investigative process is one that, when used inappropriately, can be harassing or worse. [3] The investigating agency's decisions...are also discretionary, and are generally matters of public interest that support public release of the Report.

Id.

In *Linzmeyer*, the subject of the record was a public school teacher, a public employee in a position of some visibility. The records in this case involve the Waukesha County District Attorney, who is now the state's Attorney General. His records, as those of an elected official, should face greater public scrutiny than a teacher's. All officers and employees of government are, ultimately, responsible to the citizens who have a right to hold them accountable for the job they do. *Id.* "...The mere fact that [a person] is a public employee does not weigh as strongly for release of the Report as it might if [he] were *an elected official*, *or if he were a more senior policymaking official*... (emphasis added)." *Id*.

Ultimately, the *Linzmeyer* court ordered release of the records. This court should reach the same conclusion in this case: the presumption prevails. Here, the trial court viewed the recordings and rejected the DOJ's claim that the particular strategies and investigative techniques were somehow novel and unique to Wisconsin prosecutors and investigators. App. 25: 47-59.

Recognizing that existing Wisconsin law does not support its attempt to create an all-encompassing "crime-fighting" exception to Wisconsin's Sunshine Law, the Solicitor General has abruptly changed course before this Court and now argues that it should adopt by judicial fiat

the federal exception. It is notable that at both the trial court and court of appeals, DOJ cited zero federal authority for its suppression of the records. In its brief before this Court, federal statutes or cases are cited no less than twenty-seven times. This highlights the fact that current Wisconsin public record law does not provide for the federal exception that DOJ argues should be used to suppress the tapes. Those who cherish transparent government applaud the fact that Wisconsin Public Records Law provides for greater access to Wisconsin records than the federal Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) does for federal records. *Wisconsin Family Counseling Servs., Inc. v. State*, 95 Wis.2d 670, 672–73, 291 N.W.2d 631, 633–34 (Ct. App. 1980). Abolishing this Wisconsin tradition by creating a vast exception is work for the state Legislature, not this court.

### B. RELEASE OF THE RECORDS DOES NOT DISCLOSE ANY VICTIM INFORMATION

The Court of Appeals noted the trial court's findings of fact as it relates to the 2013 video, which is the basis for DOJ's victim-confidentiality exception:

The presentation took place in a large conference room with numerous individuals present. In his presentation, Schimel employed the "case study" method, focusing on a high-profile case from several years before. Largely addressing prosecutors, Schimel shared lessons learned in dealing with victims of sensitive crimes, tips for interacting with victims, and changes Schimel intended to make in his own practice. Schimel commented on the reactions of victims and their families to the crime, how the defendant first came to the attention of law enforcement, and the role of the courts. While Schimel

provided a great deal of detail, he did not share any identifying information about victims.

App: 70-72.

The trial court also addressed the DOJ's claim that public interest would be served by keeping information, much of which is already public, from being "re-disclosed" to protect victims.

Comments regarding victims' reactions, parents' reactions, how -- and then there was a great deal of detail without any identification of the victims, without any personal information about the victims other than what is in public record. The criminal complaint contains virtually everything that Mr. Schimel was talking about.

App. 25: 50-51.

The trial court also emphasized that much of the information regarding the crime had been made public:

The fact that virtually every detail about the crimes with the exception of maybe, and I'm not even sure about this because I didn't read all 15,300 entries on the Internet. I did see that there were two pages of international coverage of this crime, and I went and took a look at several of them, the "New York Times," the "GQ" article, the "Milwaukee Journal Sentinel" which was quite extensive in their reporting of this case, and I found that they-- that they virtually covered the waterfront on this.

App. 25: 52-53; 76-93.

As the trial court found, the videos merely repeat information that has been made public in several other venues; namely: 1) the criminal complaint, a public document, provides detailed information; 2) the *Stancl* case has received much publicity, including a large article in GQ magazine in which District Attorney Schimel is quoted. App. 76-92 and; 3) most

notably the details of the presentation are set forth in written materials available on the WILENET electronic network (R. 12: Ex. B.)

Existing public availability of the information contained in a record weakens any argument for withholding the same information pursuant to the balancing test. See Milwaukee Journal Sentinel v. Wisconsin DOA, 319 at 439, (union member names sought to be withheld were already publicly available in a staff directory). As to facts supporting "an exceptional case," the DOJ provides no persuasive explanation. As the trial court noted, the claim that release of the records would negatively impact prosecution of perpetrators of sensitive crimes against children was never asserted as fact even in the DOJ's evidentiary affidavits. App. 25: 22-23. More importantly, after reviewing the actual recordings, the court found that disclosure would not harm victims but rather that the public would greatly benefit from the informative discussions about these crimes against children via use of the internet.

### II. THE SEMINAR PRESENTATION IS NOT AN "ORAL" CASE FILE PROTECTED BY FOUST

DOJ requests that this court expand its holding in *State ex rel*. *Richards v. Foust*, 165 Wis. 2d 429, 436, 477 N.W.2d 608 (1991) to encompass any discussion of closed prosecution cases. In *Foust*, this court found that the actual prosecutor's file is exempt from public disclosure requests. On at least one occasion, this Court has refused to broaden the

protection of *Foust*. In *Nichols v. Bennett*, 199 Wis. 2d 268, 544 N.W.2d 428 (1996), this Court restricted the *Foust* decision to actual documents pertaining to the prosecutor's file emphasizing that *Foust* does not even automatically exempt all records stored in a closed prosecutorial file. The exemption is limited to material directly related to the prosecution. To conceal <u>any</u> record including discussion of a closed prosecution in a semi-public setting, not just those records related to the prosecution found in the prosecutor's file, would expand *Foust* to countenance the concealment of records related to closed prosecutions. *Foust* does not stand for this broad proposition as it would be in direct contravention of the legislative directive found in our public records laws.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the court of appeal's decision. If the Court's review of the video records reveals the need to redact certain protected information, this matter should be remanded to the trial court to order such appropriate redaction.